ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JAN 11 2019

APPEAL FROM SALUDA COUNTY
The Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge
Opinion No. 5572 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 27, 2018)

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Supreme Court Case No. 2018-001671; Court of Appeals Case No. 2014-000274

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Petitioner,

v.

STEVEN OTTS,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Assistant Attorney General

S. R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the Court of Appeals ignored the standard of review when the jury charge was substantially correct, when read in its entirety adequately covered the law, was supported by the evidence and was responsive to the defense's theory of the case. The Court also created new law in holding the State could not request a jury instruction ordinarily requested by the defense, without citing any support for why this would constitute error.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Steven Otts, assaulted Hydrick Burno on January 27, 2011. Burno died three days later on January 31, 2011. Otts was subsequently charged with Burno's murder. On May 4, 2011, the Saluda County grand jury indicted Otts for murder. He was represented on the charge by Tristan M. Shaffer and Catherine T. Johnson, Esquires. (R. p. 1.) On July 22, 2013, Otts proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge. At the trial's conclusion, the jury found him guilty of murder. (R. p. 409, ll. 91-12.) Judge Russo sentenced Otts to thirty years imprisonment. (R. p. 411, ll. 19-25.) He filed a motion for a new trial on August 3, 2013, which was denied by written Order of Judge Russo on January 30, 2014. (R. pp. 421-428.)

Otts appealed his conviction and sentence. (Appendix p. 1.) The Court of Appeals reversed, finding the trial court erred in giving an instruction on the defense of others. (Appendix pp. 79-88.) The State filed a Petition for Rehearing. (Appendix p. 89.) The Court of Appeals denied the petition on August 16, 2018. (Appendix p. 103.) The State filed its Petition for Writ of Certiorari on September 17, 2018. By Order dated December 13, 2018, this Court granted the State's petition. This Brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of this case are relatively simple. The evidence produced in the State's case established that on January 27, 2011, three individuals – Otts, his girlfriend Sacca Coleman, and Antonio Valentine – had been “hanging out” drinking alcohol at a residence in Ridge Springs, South Carolina. Keisha Stallworth, who lived next door, came home from work shortly after 8:00 p.m. and joined Otts, Coleman, and Valentine. Stallworth testified she did not drink any alcohol, but Otts and Coleman were intoxicated. (R. pp. 24-30.) The four then decided to go to nearby Orchard Park Apartments and got into Valentine's automobile, a Ford Explorer. Otts and Coleman were in the back seat of the Explorer. Valentine was driving and Stallworth was in the front passenger seat. The group then rode to Orchard Park Apartments, where Otts lived.¹ (R. pp. 22-30.)

Upon arriving at the apartment complex, Coleman would not get out of the vehicle with Otts because she wanted to stay with Valentine and Stallworth. Otts became angry because his girlfriend would not get out of the vehicle and remain at the apartment complex with him. He became aggressive with Coleman. Otts began arguing with Coleman; then there was scuffling, and “licks” were passed. Otts began trying to pull or drag Coleman out of the vehicle. She resisted, and Otts pulled her top clothing off in an attempt to drag her out of the vehicle leaving her wearing only her bra. Coleman was the murder victim's cousin by marriage *and* also a friend of the murder victim. (R. pp. 23-27, 29-30, 40, 201, 203, 174.)

Several residents of the apartment complex, including the murder victim Hydrick Burno, heard the altercation and looked to see what was going on and came out of their apartments. A crowd of more than ten people assembled to watch the incident. As Otts was becoming more

¹ The murder victim in this case, Hydrick Burno, also lived at the same apartment complex. Otts lived with the murder victim's uncle and aunt.

aggressive with his girlfriend, Burno, who was now standing nearby in the apartment complex parking lot, came to the defense or aid of his cousin and attempted to calm Otts down.² According to one eyewitness, who was watching the whole incident from her balcony directly above the incident, the victim put his arms around Otts from behind (similar to a bear hug), and tried to calm Otts down and stop the altercation. (R. pp. 23-47, 49-57, 57-77.)³

Otts said to the murder victim: “Mother fucker, when you let go of me, I’m going to knock your punk ass out.” The victim let go of Otts and backed away from him. According to two different witnesses, Otts then swung at the victim with his fist striking the victim on the left side of his head. The blow was so hard that it fractured the victim’s skull and severely damaged the victim’s brain. The victim immediately collapsed, unconscious, striking the back of his head as he fell to the pavement. The victim then went into a seizure. Stallworth attempted to render assistance to the victim. Otts turned back to continue the altercation with his girlfriend Coleman. Someone pointed out to Otts that he had knocked the victim out. Otts went over and picked Burno up by the collar, and said “get up, get up.” Otts saw the victim was unconscious and dropped him back down on the asphalt, causing Burno to strike the back of his head again, which was already bleeding from the first fall. When someone said the police were being called, Otts fled the scene on foot into some nearby woods. Coleman also left the scene, but returned later. (R. pp. 57-77, 23-47, 49-57, 78-98, 99-139.)

After the ambulance was called, the victim regained consciousness briefly at the scene but while being transported to the hospital began to act strangely due to swelling of his brain. Burno eventually died at the hospital three days later due to swelling of the brain as a direct

² Otts and the victim also knew each other and were friends.

³ Stallworth testified she never saw Burno put his hands on Otts. She informed police in her statement Otts pushed the victim away when Burno first tried to come to the aid of Coleman and stop the assault of Coleman by Otts.

result of the fractured skull to the left side of his head, in the temple area, caused by the blow from Otts' fist.⁴ (R. pp. 78-98, 99-139. Otts remained in hiding until January 31, 2011 when he turned himself in to police. (R. p. 215.) He was subsequently charged with the victim's murder.

In the defense's case, Otts testified and claimed he never assaulted or dragged Coleman, but they were only arguing. (R. pp. 198-206.) He claimed Burno, who was a friend, approached him from behind, tried to pull him away from Coleman, and eventually put him in a bear hug and picked him up and moved him away from Coleman near another car. Otts admitted that when Burno was trying to pull him away from Coleman, Burno asked Otts several times to leave Coleman alone. (R. p. 238.) Otts testified he squirmed away from Burno's "bear hug" and was headed back to argue more with Coleman, when Burno kept grabbing his jacket trying to stop him. Otts said he told Burno to let go of him and whirled and struck Burno on the side of the face.⁵ Coleman, who resided with Otts at the time of trial, attempted to corroborate her boyfriend's version, claiming she was not physically assaulted and her top was not pulled off during the altercation. (R. pp. 173- 176.) She also attempted to discredit a State's witness by testifying Stallworth did not work that day and had been drinking all afternoon with her and Valentine. Coleman claimed Otts was not drinking at all. Otts also testified Stallworth was drinking. (R. p. 174.)

⁴ The autopsy determined the injury to the back of the victim's skull from being dropped on the asphalt did not cause his death. The blow with the fist to the victim's skull was the proximate cause of his death. (R. pp. 99-139.)

⁵ On cross-examination, at one point, Otts claimed he was not returning to argue with his girlfriend when he broke away from the victim's grasp, but was retreating. However, on direct and cross-examination he admitted when he broke away from the victim's "bear hug" he was attempting to return to the argument with his girlfriend. (R. pp. 209-12, 243-45, 246, 251.) Otts never testified he was afraid for his life or that he was afraid of suffering great bodily harm. He testified the victim was bigger than him and had been drinking and he did not know what the victim was going to do, but the victim could have hurt him. (R. p. 211.)

The State in reply called Stallworth's employer who verified through employment records that Stallworth did clock in that day and did not leave work until approximately 8:00 p.m. that night. Both Otts and Coleman admitted Burno was attempting to stop the altercation between Otts and Coleman, when he was struck with the fatal blow. Coleman admitted Burno was trying to pull Otts away from her and persuade Otts to go inside the apartments. Contrary to Coleman's testimony, Otts admitted he had drunk two twenty-four ounce beers before the altercation. Otts admitted he had previously been convicted of receiving stolen goods and providing false information to the police. Coleman admitted she had been convicted on two previous occasions of providing false information to police. Coleman first denied she and Otts had talked about the case since the victim was murdered, and then she admitted they had talked about the case before the trial. (R. pp. 198-218, 226-265, 172-198, 287-91.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010). "To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant." *Mattison*, 388 S.C. at 479, 697 S.E.2d at 583. If there is any evidence to warrant a jury instruction, a trial court must, upon request, give the instruction. *State v. Smith*, 391 S.C. 408, 706 S.E.2d 12 (2011). The court has a duty to charge the jury as to the law applicable to the facts brought out in the testimony. *State v. West*, 138 S.C. 421, 136 S.E. 736 (1927).

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals found error in the trial court's jury instruction in the trial of Steven Otts for the murder of Hydrick Burno after Burno tried to intervene in a domestic dispute

between Otts and his girlfriend. Specifically, the Court found error in the trial judge's explanation on the "defense of others" at the conclusion of its charge on self-defense. (Appendix p. 79.) The State requested the charge in response to the defense's argument Otts was justified in fatally striking the victim in the head because the victim held Otts in a bear hug, and then grabbed his jacket as Otts advanced toward Coleman again. In reversing the conviction, the Court of Appeals found it was improper for the trial court to charge the jury on the "offensive 'defense of others,' at the request of the State, to address the victim's behavior." (Appendix p. 84.) The Court also said the instruction was improper for failing to include the State's burden of proof and failing to guide the jury on the "actions and status of the defender or the person being defended." (Appendix p. 86.)

In the opinion, the Court of Appeals misconstrued the purpose of jury instructions when, as a matter of first impression, it held the State could not request a "defensive charge" for purposes of instructing the jury on the victim's status. This was error. The purpose of jury instructions is to enlighten the jury and aid it in arriving at a correct verdict. *State v. Leonard*, 292 S.C. 133, 355 S.E.2d 270 (1987); *see also State v. Cole*, 338 S.C. 97, 101, 525 S.E.2d 511, 512 (2000) ("The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.") By erroneously labeling the charges as offensive or defensive, rather than as correct statements of law required by the evidence presented at trial, the Court of Appeals created a limitation on the use of jury instructions unsupported by South Carolina precedent. The Court further misconstrued the burden of proof concerning the "defense of others" explanation and, accordingly, misapplied the harmless error analysis.

The Court of Appeals Misconstrued the Purpose of the Jury Instruction

As a matter of policy, the federal courts have recognized the primary purpose of the jury instruction as a framework for the jury to consider the facts in dispute. “The primary purpose of jury instructions is to define with substantial particularity the factual issues, and clearly instruct the jurors as to the principles of laws which they are to apply in deciding the factual issues involved in the case before them.” *See U.S. v. Cronn*, 717 F.2d 164, 170 (5th Cir. 1983) (quoting *U. S. v. Gilbreath*, 452 F.2d 992, 994 (5th Cir. 1971)). Although federal law is not binding upon this Court, this principal is certainly recognized by our common law. “The purpose of a jury instruction is “to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict.” *State v. Blurton*, 352 S.C. 203, 207, 573 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2002). A jury charge provides a framework for the jury to consider the facts in dispute, and the evidence presented at trial determines the charged jury instruction. *See State v. Lee*, 298 S.C. 362, 380 S.E.2d 834 (1989).

The jury instruction is not without limitation, however. The trial court must carefully craft the instruction to the evidence presented, without running afoul of the South Carolina Constitution, which prohibits the judge from commenting on the facts of the case. *See* S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 (“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.”). It is not within the province of the court to express an opinion to the jury on its view of the facts. *State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. 493, 499, 787 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2016). In some instances, the evidence requires the court to instruct the jury on distinctions between charges, even when the defendant is not charged with one of the crimes, because the jury needs to understand another principle in order to make a determination of the facts. *See. e.g., State v. Collins*, 266 S.C. 566, 571, 225 S.E.2d 189, 192 (1976) (finding that without a meaningful instruction to distinguish two crimes, one of which was not charged, the jury could have assessed criminal liability

erroneously); *but see State v. Good*, 315 S.C. 135, 138, 432 S.E.2d 463, 465 (1993) (finding the trial court's refusal to instruct on accessory after the fact not error, stating "If accessory after the fact is not charged in the indictment, but is instructed to clarify mere presence, a finding of accessory after the fact is the equivalent to a finding of not guilty.") Thus, from a reading of the case law and the Constitution, the courts must favor instructions of neutrality, carefully tailored to the evidence presented by both parties, but without any risk of commenting on the facts.

Further, very often the theory of the defense shifts as the evidence develops at trial. As the case law shows the court cannot ignore facts in evidence and only charge what it is requested by the State or the defense. The judge cannot determine who is entitled to what charge simply because one party claims entitlement to the charge. That would be an abuse of discretion. Instead, the judge must determine the appropriate charge based on the evidence presented at trial -- any evidence presented at trial. Jury charges are not the proprietary right of one party or the other, so the Court of Appeal's determination of an "offensive" use of a "defensive charge" misses the point entirely. Respectfully, the Court's categorization of the jury charge as either defensive or offensive, or to the inurement or benefit of either party, is error.

Ott's Claim of Self-Defense Invited a "Defense of Others" Instruction

The evidence at trial supported four competing theories of the case: murder, voluntary manslaughter, involuntary manslaughter, and self-defense. However, all four theories involve different actors and different factual scenarios which must be proven by the State beyond a reasonable doubt. For example, murder has very little to do with the victim's actions, but in voluntary manslaughter, the victim must have provoked the defendant. Similarly, for involuntary manslaughter to occur, the actions of the victim are not necessarily as significant as the reckless actions of the defendant. In a self-defense case, the actions of the victim are central to the

defense's case. Because the evidence supported multiple theories of liability, and because Otts argued self-defense, the jury was required to scrutinize the actions of the victim.

During the discussion on the charges, the defense clearly intended to defend Otts' actions as justified. In arguing for a self-defense charge, Otts said the following:

Because objectively, whenever someone comes up to you, bear-hugs you, and then grabs you again when you try to escape, you have the right to defend yourself. I mean, that's -- I mean, you have the right to do that. As an objective person, you might think that that person's going to hurt you.

(R. p. 272 lines 19-24.) Otts also denied the evidence supported a charge of voluntary manslaughter, claiming there was no evidence of heat of passion. (R. p. 284, lines 5-11.) Otts argued:

Your Honor, I -- I apologize. I -- I -- I'm -- I -- what I was trying to say is I think it's evidence of possibly malice. I don't believe it's evidence of enraged, incapable of cool reflection, or acting under an uncontrollable impulse to do violence, Your Honor.

(R. p. 294, lines 9-13.) Otts declined to address the question of whether the evidence supported the other element of voluntary manslaughter – that the defendant had sufficient legal provocation from the actions of the defendant.

The solicitor asked for a “defense of others” explanation in response to Otts request for self-defense (“Your Honor, I think it's consistent in this case especially if you're talking about self-defense.”) (R. pp. 301, line 24 – p. 302, line 1.) The solicitor continued, arguing:

And I think a defense-of-others charges is significant. Your Honor, for two reasons: One, if he enters her shoes in this case, clearly, for voluntary manslaughter — I was looking at the language in voluntary manslaughter. And, you know, you have to be without fault in bringing on the difficulty, and there has to be sufficient legal provocation. He would be able to do anything that he needed to, Mr. Hydrick in this case, standing in her shoes, coming to the aid of a relative in this case.

(R. p. 302, line 13-22.) The solicitor then said “And even out of the defendant's own concession in this case, he came to her aid. He stood in her shoes. I think it's vitally important, especially where they're trying to assert a self-defense, I think it totally negates that.” (R. p. 303, line 25 – p. 304, line 3.)

The trial court agreed that if it was going to instruct the jury on the law of self-defense, it was necessary to instruct the jury on the “defense of others” so the jury could appropriately decide the issues in the case, including those raised by Otts and which the State must disprove beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. pp. 301-15, 316-17.) As the trial court properly concluded, the jury could not evaluate the elements of self-defense without knowing whether the victim had any right to place his hands on Otts. The defense certainly was not claiming mistaken identity or disputing the cause of death. Instead, the sole basis for the defense's theory was that Otts was defending himself from the larger man's assault. To deprive the jury of the consideration of the victim's status because of his defense of Coleman would be to accept the defense's theory of the case as true.

In his closing argument, Otts was adamant the evidence did not support a voluntary manslaughter charge because there was no heat of passion. Otts said the following:

And that one thing is that in no way, shape, or form is this a case of voluntary manslaughter. He said that; I agree. No way, shape, or form is this a case for voluntary manslaughter. Because in order to for it to be a case of voluntary manslaughter, he has to be mad. He has to be enraged by something that Hydrick did. There's absolutely no evidence that he was enraged by something Hydrick did.

(R. p. 356, lines 9-17.) Although Otts avoided the topic of sufficient legal provocation, the jury, however, was required by the instruction on voluntary manslaughter to consider whether Burno sufficiently provoked Otts. Otts also insisted the blow was not involuntary manslaughter, arguing he was not reckless in his actions nor was he engaging in unlawful activity **because he was**

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