STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Saluda County
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

v.

STEVEN OTTS,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001671

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED
FEB 14 2018
6:06 PM
S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Saluda County
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 15 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

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

⁵ Although many jurisdictions have abandoned a strict adherence to the alter ego rule, they have done so only to “allow exculpation based upon the intervenor’s reasonable belief that his defensive action was required.” Marco F. Bendinelli, James T. Edsall, Defense of Others: Origins, Requirements, Limitations and Ramifications, 5 Regent U. L. Rev. 153, 159-160 (Spring 1995).

of self-defense, a person may not only take the life in his own defense but also in defense of a relative,” and “that the right to intervene to protect the relative is subject to the same limitations as the right of self-defense.” However, the judge instructed the jury on the duty to retreat, which this Court found to be in error. Instead, Sales had no duty to retreat because sister had no duty to retreat from her home and Sales assumed the rights and limitations of the person he acted to protect. *Id.* at 114-15, 328 S.E.2d at 619-620.

As an initial matter, the defense of others instruction is a *defense* to a criminal charge as its very name clearly explains. As held by the Court of Appeals, in the instant case, the trial judge’s instruction regarding the defense of others was confusing to the jury as the theory of defense of others is a defense to a criminal charge. The trial judge’s decision to instruct the jury on *defense* of others regarding the conduct of the alleged victim was an error of law.⁶ In its brief, the state argued that when the Court of Appeals referred to the defense of others as a “defensive” instruction and that the state was using it in an “offensive” posture, the Court of Appeals was barring the state from requesting at trial an instruction supported by the facts if the instruction would be considered a defense to a criminal charge. The Court of Appeals never limited the instructions a party may request; instead, the Court of Appeals simply applied long-standing law that the instructions given must be supported by the record. Here, defense of others is a jury instruction applicable to defend against a criminal charge.

The Arizona Court of Appeals reversed an aggravated assault conviction where the trial judge erroneously instructed the jury pursuant to its state statute governing the defense of

⁶ This Court affirmed a trial judge’s refusal to instruct a jury on defense of others where the defendant made the request for the instruction based upon the state’s argument, and the judge’s instruction, on accomplice liability. *Douglas v. State*, 332 S.C. 67, 73, 504 S.E.2d 307, 310 (1998). This Court explained that “[e]vidence that supports a charge on concerted action does not automatically warrant a defense of others charge” and “[t]here must be some other evidence to support the defense of others theory.” *Id.*

habitation that “[t]he person is presumed to have acted reasonably if the person acted against another person who unlawfully or forcefully entered the person’s residential structure” in reference to the conduct of the alleged victim. State v. Abdi, 248 P.3d 209, 211-212 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2011). One night, Abdi visited the apartment of the alleged victim. Id. at 211. According to the alleged victim, he tried to close and lock the door, but Abdi forced it open and attempted to enter. Id. The alleged victim further claimed that Abdi stabbed him multiple times. Id. Abdi claimed he acted in self-defense. Id.

The appellate court held that although the statute referred to a “person,” which suggested “the statute could apply to either a defendant or an alleged victim in a case,” the historical background of the statute and the language used in describing the legislature’s intent convinced the court that “the presumption was meant to apply in favor of a defendant in a criminal action who raises a justification defense.” Id. at 212.

Similarly, the Mississippi Court of Appeals held the language in its castle doctrine applied to a defendant, not a victim. Husband v. State, 204 So.3d 353, 358 (Miss Ct. App. 2016). The trial court instructed the jury, pursuant to the state’s castle doctrine statute, that if the jury found the alleged victim was an occupant of the residence where the shooting occurred, then the jury should presume the alleged victim was “entitled, under the law, to use whatever force or weaponry that would have been reasonably necessary for him to meet and repel any attack upon himself and the other inhabitants of the residence, which may have been mounted or caused by the defendant.” Id. at 356. The court examined the language used in the statute to determine “[t]he statute clearly indicates that the rebuttable presumption is granted to the defendant, not the victim.” Id.

Furthermore, there was no evidence in the record of Respondent's trial to support the giving of the defense of others instruction. There was no evidence that Coleman was in imminent danger of losing her life or great bodily injury or had a reasonable belief of such an imminent threat. At worst, the evidence showed that Respondent and Coleman were verbally arguing, that Respondent was "pulling" on Coleman, and that "licks" were passed. There was no evidence that Coleman was in danger of great bodily injury or would have entertained a reasonable belief of such a threat. Burno's act of grabbing Respondent in a bear hug, picking him up, and moving several feet exceeded the amount of force that Coleman would have been permitted to use under the law of self-defense. Coleman was permitted only to use the amount of force as appeared to be necessary against any perceived threat from Respondent if the threat amounted to imminent danger of losing her life or great bodily injury. The bear hug and moving of Respondent surpassed the amount of force necessary to repel any threat posed by Respondent. Additionally, Coleman may have been under a duty to retreat because the argument began when Coleman was in the car, Respondent exited the car leaving Coleman in the car, and Coleman was not in her home or place of business.

This instruction had no place in Respondent's case because it concerned a defense to a criminal charge that was not being asserted in this case. Respondent was not claiming that he was acting in defense of others, and no criminal charges had been filed against Burno. Defense of others is a defense and should not have been charged to the jury because it was not asserted as a defense by Respondent; thus, as the Court of Appeals correctly observed, the facts did not support the instruction. Further, to the extent, the instruction may apply to explain an alleged victim's conduct, the facts in the case sub judice did not support the giving of the instruction because the state did not, and could not, present evidence that Coleman satisfied the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.

Incomplete instruction with no framework

The trial judge's total instruction on the defense of others was as follows: "Now, under South Carolina law, if one comes to the assistance of a friend or a relative and takes part in a difficulty in which a friend or a relative is engaged, he enters the combat on the same footing as the person whose assistance he comes and under the same legal status." R. 405, lines 16-20. Quite simply, the instruction was incomplete as to how the jury should evaluate the conduct of an individual who is acting in defense of others, specifically as whether the person being defended was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, the amount of force to be used, and the duty to retreat. App. 85-87.

Additionally, the instruction provided no explanation of what the theory of defense of others means or how it related to the case; thus, creating greater confusion. Specifically, the judge failed to instruct that a person being defended must satisfy all the elements of self-defense, including not being at fault in bringing on the difficulty, being in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, the reasonableness of that belief, the limitation on the use of force, and the duty to retreat.

Perhaps, most importantly, the trial judge failed to explain to the jury what burden of proof was applicable to the defense of other instruction. See App. 86-87. Petitioner argued both that "the state always has the burden of proof" and that the state did not have the burden to prove the deceased stepped into the shoes of Coleman during the altercation. Cf. BOP at 15 with BOP at 16. According to the state, at trial and on appeal, the requested instruction was simply "a principle of law" for the jury to accept. BOP at 16. Despite the state's contention that the instruction was merely a principle of law to assist the jury in considering the evidence, to the extent the instruction

was proper for the jury's consideration, which Respondent disputes, it was necessary for the jury to understand the state had the burden to prove the deceased's conduct satisfied the principle of law.

On appeal, the state indicated that the judge's failure to instruct the jury regarding the burden of proof when providing the condensed defense of others instruction was unnecessary because the instruction was simply "a correct principle of law." BOP at 16. According to the state, the prosecution did *not* "have the burden to prove [Burno] stepped into the sho[e]s of Coleman when he came to her defense because once the jury determined as a matter of fact Burno was defending Coleman, Burno stepped into Coleman's shoes as a principle of law." BOP at 16. The state elaborated, comparing the abbreviated defense of others instruction to an instruction for how the jury may evaluate whether an individual has cooled off for purposes of voluntary manslaughter. BOP at 17. Nevertheless, the case law is clear – in order to act in defense of others, the evidence must show that the "other" could have exercised self-defense.

Accepting the state's argument, that the abbreviated instruction was a mere "principle of law," exposes the improper instruction as a comment on the facts in violation of the state constitution and.⁷ According to the state constitution, "[j]udges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law." S.C. Const. art. V, § 21. "The basis for this constitutional provision is founded upon the concept of our system of justice that every person charged with a crime has the right to a fair and impartial trial and that such a trial may only be achieved with the neutrality of the trial judge." State v. Campbell, 297 S.C. 24, 25-26, 374 S.E.2d 668, 668-669 (1988).

[I]t is generally held that in the course of the trial of a criminal case, the trial judge must refrain from all comment which tends to indicate his opinion as to the weight

⁷ "Regardless of whether the charge is a correct statement of the law, instructions which confuse or mislead the jury are erroneous." State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 498, 787 S.E.2d 480, 482 (2016).

or sufficiency of the evidence, the credibility of the witnesses, the guilt of the accused, or as to the controverted facts, for the jury are the sole judge of the facts and the credibility of the witnesses, and the Constitution expressly prohibits the judge from charging them as to the facts.

State v. Pruitt, 187 S.C. 58, 58, 196 S.E. 371, 372-373 (1938). This Court recently decided State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016), holding that charging a jury pursuant to section 16-3-657 of the South Carolina Code was “confusing and violative of the constitutional provision prohibiting courts from commenting to the jury on the facts of a case.” Stukes, 416 S.C. at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 483. Citing the constitutional prohibition on judges instructing the jury on facts, this Court explained that “it is not within the province of the court to express an opinion to the jury on its view of the facts.” Stukes, 416 S.C. at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 483. “By addressing the veracity of a victim’s testimony in its instructions, the trial court emphasizes the weight of that evidence in the eyes of the jury. The charge invites the jury to believe the victim, explaining that to confirm the authenticity of her statement, the jury need only hear her speak.” Id.

Specifically, in the case sub judice, the judge informed the jury: “Now, under South Carolina law, if one comes to the assistance of a friend or a relative and takes part in a difficulty in which a friend or a relative is engaged, he enters the combat on the same footing as the person whose assistance he comes and under the same legal status.” R. 405, lines 16-20. The instruction, particularly when read as the state suggests as merely a principle of law and for which there was no greater detail needed or burden of proof required, was a comment on the facts. By issuing the instruction, the judge erroneously told the jurors to view Burno as Coleman and to evaluate Respondent’s conduct through that lens.

Likewise, accepting the state’s argument that the instruction was simply a principle of law exposes the instruction as an improper burden-shifting instruction. Again, the opinion by the Arizona Court of Appeals in State v. Abdi, 248 P.3d 209 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2011) is instructive. The

court held “the language of the challenged instruction ... is mandatory, not permissive.” Abdi, 248 P.3d at 212. “The trial court essentially instructed the jury that, upon the requisite factual showing of an unlawful entry into a home, they were to presume the victim had ‘acted reasonably’ in defense of that home.” Id. Based on the language in the instruction, “a reasonable juror could have viewed the instruction as requiring that he or she find the ultimate fact – that the victim acted reasonably in defense of his residence – upon the state’s proof of the basic fact – that Abdi ‘unlawfully or forcefully’ entered the residence.” Id. at 212-213. In this way, “the instruction created a mandatory presumption.” Id. at 213. The court explained the alleged victim “was the only person in a position to defend his residence,” and as a result, “a reasonable jury could only have understood the presumption to apply in favor of [the alleged victim], rather than Abdi.” Id.

Using the instruction to apply to the alleged victim’s conduct was “problematic” because “[o]nce the state proved that [the alleged victim] had ‘acted against another person who unlawfully or forcefully entered [his] residential structure,’ the jury was to presume that Abdi’s use of force was in response to reasonable action by the victim.” Id. Accordingly, “Abdi’s defense was unjustified unless he presented evidence to rebut the presumption.” Id. Because self-defense is not an affirmative defense, the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Abdi did not act with justification. Id. The court concluded “when applied to the victim in this case, a reasonable jury could have understood the instruction to create a presumption that relieved the state of its burden of persuasion as to an element of the offense.” Id.; see also Husband, 204 So.3d at 358 (concluding the erroneous instruction directed toward the alleged victim’s conduct in relation to the state’s castle doctrine statute impermissibly shifted the burden

of proof to the defendant on the elements of self-defense, which the state was required to disprove beyond a reasonable doubt).

Similarly, the instruction given at Respondent's trial was a comment on the facts by the trial judge that ran the risk of relieving the state of its burden of disproving self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.

Harmless error analysis

Petitioner asserted the Court of Appeals' harmless error analysis was flawed because it focused on the lack of an instruction on the burden of proof accompanying the improper defense of others instruction. BOP at 15-18. While the failure to clarify the burden of proof applicable to the defense of others instruction was part of the Court of Appeals' consideration, the Court primarily focused on how the erroneous instruction, which was incomplete, confusing, and misleading, contributed to the verdict. In arriving at its conclusion that the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the Court of Appeals examined the prosecutor's reliance upon in the instruction throughout the trial and the prosecutor's insistence that the instruction was "vitally important" to the case. App 87-88.

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